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On July 16, 1866, farmer and large land owner in Brandon, Vermont, Josiah 
Rossiter, Jr. for $50,000 conveyed 15 acres in Brandon to Henry Currier, Charles F. Joy, 
George W. Dean, and Daniel Caverly of Boston, Massachusetts.  The parcel was west of 
Hawk Hill and east of the railroad tracks.  It was described as: beginning at the center of 
a stone culvert across the Rutland and Burlington Rail Road on the land and farm owned 
by Rossiter and about 1½ miles south from Brandon Village.

Included in the purchase was a right of way for a railroad track from any part of 
the premises to the railroad, if convenient, across or over the land of Rossiter, other than 
conveyed in the 15 acres.  A reasonable compensation for the use of land for the railroad 
track was expected.2

On the same day, Currier, Joy, Dean, and Caverly, for $20,000 mortgaged to 
David W. Prime of Brandon, the 15 acres in Brandon that Josiah Rossiter sold to them, 
including appurtenances.  David Prime was Josiah Rossiter, Jr.’s son-in-law.

Under the terms of the mortgage, Currier, Joy, Dean, and Caverly were to pay 
Prime in three promissory notes; one for $5,000 payable in 3 months from the date, one 
for $5,000 payable in 6 months after the date, and the other for $10,000 payable in 18 
months after the date, and all payable at the Brandon National Bank.  The mortgage was 
paid in full by July 13, 1868.3
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David Prime (l.) and probably, Josiah Rossiter, Jr. (r.)
 at Prime’s home on Park St., Brandon, Vermont ca. 1867.

Apparently, since David Prime held the first mortgage on the quarry property, and 
the mortgage was paid off, the quarry became known originally as the Prime Quarry. 
The quarry opened in 1866.5

On November 6, 1866, Currier, Joy, Dean, and Caverly, sold for $37,500 to 
Henry B. Richmond a merchant of Boston, ¼ of the 15 acre parcel in Brandon that they 
had purchased from Rossiter.  This also included the right of way for a railroad track 
across Rossiter’s other land.  Richmond was held responsible for the mortgage that the 
grantors had with David W. Prime.6

The following year, on September, 12, 1867, Daniel F. Caverly sold out his 
interest in the property for $12,000, to the other owners.7

Co-owner of the quarry property, Charles F. Joy, a 65 year old wool dealer from 
Chelsea, Massachusetts,8 had organized C.F. Joy & Company to quarry the marble.  For 
the annual period ending 30 Jun 1870, the following depicts a summary of the 
Prime/Richmond Quarry activities for the previous fiscal year:9
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Company: C.F. Joy & Company Wages for year
Business: Quarrying Marble Dollars: $8,100
Capital: $150,000 Months operated: 12
Motive Power Materials:

Kind: Steam Kinds:/Qty/$: Powder, 15 kegs, $56
Horsepower: 30          Coal, 12 tons, $144

Machines         Iron & Steel, $300
Description: Engines Products
Quantity: 6 Kinds: Marble removed

Avg. No. of Employees Quantities: 5,400 tons
Adult males: 20 Value: $30,000

Brandon, Vermont District #6
Prime/Richmond Quarry, 1869.10

Steam-driven channeling machines were introduced to Vermont quarrying 
operations in the 1860s.  The Prime Quarry purchased the third machine produced by the 
Sullivan Machine Company of New Hampshire.  The first channeler was never sold, but 
used on contract work in Vermont marble quarries and for a time on red sandstone at 
Portland, Connecticut.  The second was sold to the Columbian Marble Co. and used in its 
quarries near Sutherland Falls, Vermont.11
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On August 19, 1870, Henry B. Richmond mortgaged his interest in the quarry for 
$20,000 to John H. Lester and George H. Bigelow of Boston, trustees under the will of 
Jonathan Buffington, late of Roxbury, Massachusetts.  This included the right of way for 
a railroad track and all the interest that Richmond had in “all marble in block or in ledge 
or quarry; also all tools, engines, machinery, fixtures, and other personal property used in 
quarrying marble on said premises; including all cattle and horses.”12

  13

Wardwell Single Gang Machine               Wardwell Double Gang Machine
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While under Henry B. Richmond’s ownership, the Richmond Marble Co. owned 
three of the Wardwell stone channeling and quarrying machines.14

On November 11, 1871, Lester and Bigelow entered into an agreement with 
Henry Currier of Charlestown and George W. Dean of Boston, each owning a 15/64 
interest in the marble quarry and personal property; and Henry B. Richmond of Boston, 
having an interest in 19/64 in the same property, the title now in Lester and Bigelow’s 
names; and Charles F. Joy of Chelsea and Shadrack R. Brackett of Lowell, holding 15/64 
parts of the same property, all of Massachusetts.

Lester and Bigelow had already loaned Richmond large sums of money based on 
his interest in the property.  Currier, Dean, Richmond, Joy, and Brackett had already 
expended large sums of money in the development and quarrying the marble from the 
property.  Now, however, they were not in a financial position to complete the 
development of the quarry and manufacture the marble and get it to market.

Lester and Bigelow were willing to loan further sums using the property as 
security for developing the quarry and erecting a mill for completing the manufacture of 
the marble and getting it to market.  The condition of the loan was that it could be done 
with safety and security for the ultimate refunding of the money to them.  The money 
being loaned was from the trust funds of the Buffington estate.  Therefore, Lester and 
Bigelow agreed to advance $5,000 and other funds in the future to Currier, Dean, 
Richmond, Joy, and Brackett.  Both parties agreed to the following terms:

1. Lester and Bigelow, by themselves, would take immediate possession of all the 
property, after first making an inventory.  They would keep a record of it in a book and 
record all future transactions regarding the property.

2.  They would carry on the business in the most prudent and careful manner until 
the mill was erected; and the marble already quarried would be placed in condition to be 
sold.

3.  They would sell the quarried and manufactured marble until they could pay 
themselves all the money, with interest, advanced under this contract and expended in 
erecting a mill or any other necessary construction, or in the purchase of tools.  This 
included costs in the development of the quarry, or in the manufacture and sale of marble. 
They would be reimbursed for expenses incurred in any other mode connected with 
carrying on the business not exceeding one percent per annum on all moneys advanced 
and expended by them in carrying on the business.  They would be able, out of the net 
proceeds of the business, to refund themselves all the money together with interest on the 
same which they had advanced or loaned, upon the security of any portion of the 
property; also moneys that they used in procuring any liens, attachments, incumberances, 
etc.

After full payment of all the claims of Lester and Bigelow, and of all expenses 
incurred by them, the property would revert back Currier, Dean, Richmond, Joy, and 
Brackett according to their proportions.

For the purpose of making this security more available to Lester and Bigelow, and 
in consideration of the money advanced and loaned for the purpose of carrying this 
contract into effect, Currier, Dean, Richmond, Joy, and Brackett would at all times when 
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requested be ready to execute further contracts as may become necessary to carry into 
effect the intent of this contract.

It was further agreed that if it was not practicable for John H. Lester and George 
B. Bigelow, by careful management of the property for the term of five years, to obtain a 
sufficient amount of money over and above all expenses to refund all the money 
advanced under this contract, together with interest, then they could sell all or any portion 
of the property.  The money from the sale would first be applied to extinguishing the 
claim of Lester and Bigelow, and the balance paid to Currier, Dean, Richmond, Joy, and 
Brackett in the proportion to their shares.  They also agreed that if the property was sold 
at auction, Lester and Bigelow would become the sole owners.

It was further agreed that if either of Currier, Dean, Richmond, Joy, or Brackett 
shall pay at any time to John H. Lester and George B. Bigelow all the money which has 
been advanced to that particular party and all disbursements and expenses made and 
incurred under this contract with interest and commissions in conformity with the 
provisions of this contract, that portion of the estate belonging to such party so paying 
shall be released from the operation of this contract and revert to the owner.  But the 
contract shall continue in full force so far as consistent as to all the other parties.15

Richmond Quarry from the south, 1876.16
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Richmond Quarry from the north, 1876.17

“This company built a mill of six gangs, a dozen or more tenements, and operated 
a number of years.  Owing to financial embarrassments, work was suspended in 1876 and 
the property has remained idle since.”18

The “financial embarrassments” where such that Samuel Bigelow filed a 
foreclosure suit in the Rutland County, Vermont Court of Chancery in September 1878.

On the 2nd Tuesday in September 1878, Samuel Bigelow of Boston, submitted a 
petition setting forth that Henry Currier of Charlestown, Charles F. Joy of Chelsea, Henry 
B. Richmond, and George W. Dean of Boston on November 26, 1870 had executed a 
mortgage on the Prime Quarry land.  The condition was that a promissory note for 
$20,000 dated 26 Nov 1870 signed by them were to pay Bigelow the $20,000 in three 
years from the date with interest to be paid semi-annually at the rate of six percent per 
annum during the three years.

The suit dragged on for three years, full of complications and cross complaints. 
Some of those involved, such as Charles F. Joy, died and others were no longer involved. 
Finally, on March 21, 1881 the Court ordered and decreed that Samuel Bigelow was due 
$22,088.92 on his mortgage and his costs were $235.45, making the total due him 
$22,324.37.  If the defendants couldn’t pay on or before March 21, 1882, with interest, 
then all shall be foreclosed.19

While all the legal issues were ongoing, the actual work on the quarry may have 
been waning.  In the early 1880s, Benona Franklin “Frank” Wheeler was the only person 
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recorded as living on Brandon Town Road # 44, the road to the Prime/Richmond Quarry. 
His employment consisted of being the overseer of a marble quarry.  Since he was the 
only person recorded as living on Town Road #44, he was probably “overseeing” the 
Prime/Richmond Marble Quarry.20

1881 Map of Brandon, Vermont showing Town Road #44, site of the 
Prime/Richmond Quarry

In 1885, the Prime/Richmond Quarry was still not being worked.21

Samuel Bigelow followed through with the foreclosure.  On October 15, 1887, he 
sold the 15 acres, with quarry to Abraham B. Coffin of Boston, Massachusetts for $37, 
900.22  He also sold to Coffin for $1.00 and “other good considerations” “all the marble in 
block or sawed; all the tools, machinery, and fixtures – one engine, one boiler, and all 
other personal property belonging to me of every sort and kind now on the premises 
known as the Richmond or Prime Quarry situated in Brandon, Vermont or belonging 
thereto.”23

Four days later, Coffin sold the same 15 acre property to George Briggs of 
Brandon for $5,000;24 followed by the same personal property that he had received from 
Bigelow.25
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One year later, on October 14, 1888, George Briggs, for $1.00 sold all the 
property he had received from Abraham B. Coffin to the Vermont Marble Company of 
Proctor, Vermont.26  The quarry is now (2010) property of the OMYA corporation.

27

Prime/Richmond Quarry site, 1904

A 1912 report gave the following information regarding the still abandoned 
quarry:

“The abandoned quarry at locality 238 is a mile north of the Landon, a little east 
of the railroad, and about 2 miles S. 25° E. of Brandon station. (See Pl. I.)

The marble is a calcite marble of milk-white color, with little cloudy dolomitic 
and muscovitic beds. The calcitic parts are irregular in texture and have a grain diameter 
of 0.05 to 0.75, mostly 0.12 to 0.38 millimeter, being thus of grade 4 (medium). The 
marble contains some pyrite and a little quartz.
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The plicated bedding is vertical and is crossed by low eastward-dipping cleavage 
(‘reeds’).”28

Prime/Richmond Quarry, Fall 2010

Prime/Richmond Quarry, Fall 2010
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Prime/Richmond Quarry area, 2010.
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